
Civic Centre, Windmill Street, Gravesend Kent DA12 1AU

Cabinet

Members of the Cabinet of Gravesham Borough Council are summoned to attend a meeting to 
be held Virtually on Monday, 5 October 2020 at 7.30 pm when the business specified in the 
following agenda is proposed to be transacted. Details on how Members can attend the meeting 
will be sent separately. 

In response to COVID-19, the Government has legislated to permit remote attendance by Elected 
Members at formal meetings. This is conditional on other Elected Members and the public being 
able to hear those participating in the meeting. This meeting will be streamed live and can be 
watched via Gravesham Borough Council’s YouTube Channel:- 

www.youtube.com/graveshamtv 

S Walsh
Service Manager (Communities)

Agenda

Part A
Items likely to be considered in Public

1. Apologies for absence 

2. To sign the minutes of the previous meeting (Pages 3 - 8)

3. To declare any interest members may have in the items contained on this 
agenda.   When declaring an interest a member must state what their 
interest is. 

4. To consider whether any items in Part A of the agenda should be 
considered in private or any items in Part B in public 

5. Delegated Decisions - Cabinet Members 
To report any decisions made by Cabinet Members under their delegated 
powers.

http://www.youtube.com/graveshamtv


6. Former Police Station Site, Windmill Street - Possible Compulsory 
Purchase Order Requirement 

7. Any other business which by reason of special circumstances the Chair is 
of the opinion should be considered as a matter of urgency. 

8. Exclusion 
To move, if required, that pursuant to Section 100A (4) of the Local 
Government Act 1972 that the public be excluded from any items 
included in Part B of the agenda because it is likely in view of the nature 
of business to be transacted that if members of the public are present 
during those items, there would be disclosure to them of exempt 
information as defined in Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act.

Part B
Items likely to be considered in Private

None

9. Any other business which by reason of special circumstances the Chair is 
of the opinion should be considered as a matter of urgency. 

Members

Cllr John Burden (Chair)
Cllr Lee Croxton (Vice-Chair)

Councillors: Shane Mochrie-Cox
Lenny Rolles
Brian Sangha
Narinderjit Singh Thandi
Jenny Wallace



1

Cabinet

Monday, 7 September 2020 7.30 pm

Present:

Cllr John Burden (Chair)
Cllr Lee Croxton (Vice-Chair)

Councillors: Shane Mochrie-Cox
Lenny Rolles
Brian Sangha
Narinderjit Singh Thandi
Jenny Wallace

Stuart Bobby Chief Executive 
Nick Brown Director (Housing & Operations) 
Kevin Burbidge Director (Planning & Development) 
Sarah Parfitt Director (Corporate Services) 
Wendy Lane Assistant Director (Planning) 
Jan Guyler Head of Legal Services 
Andy Rayfield Communications Manager 
Andrew Barnett Principal Accountant (General Fund) 
Alexandra Jarvis Principal Accountant (Housing & Exchequer) 
David Herrington Digital Manager 
Carlie Simmonds Committee Services Manager

23. Minutes 

The minutes of the meeting held on 29 June 2020 were signed by the Chair.

24. Declarations of Interest 

No declarations of interest were made.

25. Delegated Decisions - Cabinet Members 

No decisions other than those already circulated had been made.

26. Corporate Performance Update: Quarter One 2020-21 

The Cabinet received an update against the Performance Management Framework for 
Quarter One 2020-21 (April to June 2020).

Appendix Two provided a summary of corporate performance in the last reporting quarter, 
with the following key statistical headlines:-

 50% of reported indicators improved or maintained their level of performance; 
 50% of reported indicators had fallen in their level of performance. 

Page 3 Agenda Item 2



Cabinet 7.09.2020

2

Specifically in consideration of the adopted corporate objectives, the following headlines 
were presented for the last reporting quarter:-

 People: 50% of reported indicators improved or maintained their level of 
performance;

 Place: 40% of reported indicators improved or maintained their level of performance; 
and 

 Progress: 67% of reported indicators improved or maintained their level of 
performance.

Information on performance over the period was presented in tabular and graphical form for 
all indicators. Where any data was not presented, this related either to those indicators 
reported on an annual basis or, alternatively, where data had not yet been submitted in time 
for the presentation of the report. Any outturns where data had been unable to be reported 
will be presented within the next available reporting cycle to Cabinet and the relevant 
Cabinet Committees. 

The Chief Executive advised that, following Cabinet’s review, all Cabinet Committees will be 
presented with individual performance reports tailored to the respective portfolio 
responsibilities. Alongside statistical content, these will provide more detailed contextual or 
qualitative updates outlining what activity the Council had delivered and what action will be 
taken to successfully realise the Corporate Plan’s corporate objectives and policy 
commitments.

The Cabinet acknowledged that a number of the performance targets had fallen in their level 
of performance however those targets related to key services that had shut down completely 
with staff being diverted to support the most vulnerable members of the community during 
the lockdown period.

The Cabinet thanked everyone who was involved in the collective effort to support the most 
vulnerable in the community, local businesses and the wider public during the lockdown 
period.

27. Albion Waterside (Canal Basin area) - Possible Compulsory Purchase Order 
requirement 

The Cabinet was informed that the regeneration of the Canal Basin area was of key 
importance to the Council and will be of benefit to the riverside area and the Borough as a 
whole. It was a strategic site for the emerging Local Plan and its redevelopment would be 
essential for regeneration of that area and housing delivery.

Over the years, effort had been made with various developers to bring forward a 
comprehensive scheme for the area but, to date, only 350 of an originally permitted scheme 
for circa 1,000 homes had been delivered. A developer had recently approached the 
Council, having obtained an interest in a large part of the remaining identified development 
area, intent on bringing forward an exciting, mixed-use development, and negotiations were 
currently ongoing with neighbouring landowners to acquire the other parcels within the 
development area.  

In the event that acquisition by agreement was not possible, the Director (Planning and 
Development) advised that it was now considered appropriate to commit to the principle of 
using Compulsory Purchase Order (CPO) powers under part IX of the Town and Country 

Page 4



Cabinet 7.09.2020

3

Planning Act 1990. Such a decision had been taken before, when the Council was working 
with Countryside Properties Plc on the project but, given the passage of time, it was 
considered inappropriate to rely on that decision.

Should the Council determine the need to invoke CPO proceedings, a useable budget of 
circa £25,000 would be required, albeit this would be reimbursed by the developer.

The Cabinet acknowledged that the Canal Basin was of key importance to the Council and 
supported the principle of using CPO powers in order to bring forward the comprehensive 
redevelopment of that area. 

The Cabinet stated that there were also a number of other key sites within the Borough that 
had stalled and requested that CPO powers be considered for those sites too. 

Resolved that the Chief Executive, in consultation with the Leader of the Executive 
and other officers as appropriate, be authorised to progress the making of a 
Compulsory Purchase Order for the land as outlined red on the plan attached at 
Appendix 2 to the report in the event that acquisition by agreement cannot be 
secured.

28. Parish Street Lighting 

The Cabinet was informed that the Council’s maintainable lighting assets, including those 
within the parishes of Higham, Meopham and Vigo, had been maintained on its behalf by 
Kent County Council (KCC) through its own lighting maintenance contract.

The Cabinet was informed that KCC was currently undertaking a programme of 
improvements to its own lighting stock and had advised the Council that it will no longer be 
supporting assets of the Council’s that had not been similarly upgraded but, for eligible 
assets, once upgraded they would be prepared to adopt them and take responsibility for 
future management and maintenance.

Officers had therefore undertaken an audit of GBC assets within the urban area to ensure 
current necessary repairs can be undertaken in the short term and were engaging 
consultants to review those assets eligible for adoption and provide a cost estimate for the 
work to be undertaken. 

For reasons that current Officers have been unable to establish, in September and 
November 1980 respectively, the Council entered into agreements with the then Higham and 
Meopham Parish Councils (the latter now covering the newer parish of Vigo) to ‘operate, 
maintain and finance’ the functions with regard to street lighting, which then rested with the 
parishes by virtue of Section 3 of the Parish Councils Act 1957. No such agreement exists 
within any of the other parished parts of the Borough.

At recent meetings of Parish Council Chairmen, this matter had been discussed and the 
Leader indicated that the Council would be reviewing its position in respect of these 
agreements, with a view to termination. 

Therefore, it was recommended that these contracts be terminated at 31 March 2022, which 
would require written notice to be served by the end of September 2020. Any letter would be 
accompanied by a plan and list of all known, maintainable assets within their area.

Page 5



Cabinet 7.09.2020

4

The Cabinet acknowledged that the agreement between the Council and the relevant Parish 
Councils allowed for any incurred costs by the Council to be recharged to the relevant Parish 
Council. The Cabinet agreed that it was important for the Council and relevant Parish 
Councils to work in partnership during the termination of these contracts. 

Resolved that the Director (Planning and Development) be authorised to write to 
Higham, Meopham and Vigo Parish Councils to advise them of a decision to 
terminate the Agreement to operate, maintain and finance street lighting assets 
within their areas at 31 March 2022, advising the other parishes of that decision as a 
courtesy.

29. London Resort Consultation 

The Cabinet was informed that, in July 2020, London Resort launched a statutory 
consultation on its current proposals. The project was being taken forward by means of a 
Development Consent Order application (DCO) which was currently timetabled for 
November 2020. An Environmental Scoping report was submitted to the Planning 
Inspectorate on which Gravesham and other local authorities and statutory agencies 
commented. Gravesham’s response was attached to the report for Members’ information. 

The report also detailed the current proposals including the direct impact on Gravesham, 
benefits and opportunities and potential threats. 

The Assistant Director (Planning) advised that the Council continued to be actively involved 
with the proposal and it was felt that the London Resort Company Holdings
(LRCH) team was trying to be open and transparent about their proposals and the impacts 
that it will have. Officers will maintain that ongoing dialogue with the LRCH team to ensure 
that any concerns this Council may have continue to be addressed through the process. 

The Cabinet was informed that there were a number of matters that needed to be explored 
further with the applicant to understand what the full implications will be and what can be 
done to mitigate the impacts. 

Part of the problem continued to be the degree of uncertainty. If the project was to be as 
successful as the LRCH team thinks it will be, Gravesend could benefit significantly from the 
spin-off tourism jobs and footfall as well as the direct, indirect and catalytic jobs in the supply 
chain. 

However, if things become tighter, the proposal could be a negative force on Gravesend 
town centre and the local economy. 

The Cabinet stated that it was essential that there continued to be co-creation. The LRCH 
team needed to continue to work in partnership with local authorities, statutory agencies and 
the community. 

30. General Fund Budget Monitoring Report 2020/21 – Quarter One 

The Cabinet received the first budget monitoring report for 2020/21 showing the position up 
to 30 June 2020. The Cabinet noted the information provided on:-

Page 6



Cabinet 7.09.2020

5

 actual performance against the approved Revenue and Capital budgets for 2020/21, 
including projected variances agreed or identified through budgetary control activity; 
and

 other key areas of financial performance that may impact on the Council’s Medium 
Term Financial Strategy, Medium Term Financial Plan or Financial Statements.

Significant risks to the General Fund’s financial position continued to come from the lack of 
clarity regarding the long-term future of local government funding, and more recently, the 
financial consequences of the Covid-19 pandemic.

The Cabinet acknowledged the financial impact of Covid-19 and thanked the efforts of 
Members and Officers in delivering the Bridging the Gap programme over the last eight 
years which had resulted in the Council’s having a strong level of reserves which will be 
sufficient to avoid serious financial difficulty in the short-term. The Cabinet urged the 
Government to help make up the shortfall suffered directly as a result of Covid-19 and 
requested that relevant guidance be released in a timely manner.

Officers confirmed that the Council will continue to maintain strong financial governance 
arrangements and will continue to lobby the Government, with other Kent authorities, 
regarding the long-term future of local government funding as well as the financial 
consequences of the Covid-19 pandemic.

The Cabinet expressed its concern regarding the Government’s proposal to reform/merge 
local government in order to generate savings. 

The Cabinet praised the work of Officers during the lockdown period and since, in particular, 
the Waste and Operational Services Team. 

31. Housing Revenue Account Budget Monitoring Report – Quarter One 2020/21 

The Cabinet received the first budget monitoring report for 2020/21 showing the position up 
to 30 June 2020. The Cabinet noted the information provided on:- 

 actual performance against the approved Revenue and Capital budgets for 2020/21, 
including known variances agreed or identified through budgetary control activity; and

 other key arears of financial performance that may impact on the Council’s Medium 
Term Financial Strategy, Medium Term Financial Plan, HRA Business Plan or 
Financial Statements.

Significant risks to the HRA’s financial position continued to come from the lack of clarity 
regarding the long-term future of local government funding, and more recently, the financial 
consequences of the Covid-19 pandemic.

The Leader stated that the Council was still committed to delivering the new homes in the 
Borough. 

In relation to hall lettings, clarification was sought as to whether Community Centres would 
be reopened once it was safe to do so in particular Shears Green Community Centre. 

The Director (Housing and Operations) advised that the Community Centres would be 
reopened following completion of the necessary risk assessments by the individual groups 
etc. which use the Community Centres within the Borough.

Page 7



Cabinet 7.09.2020

6

The Leader stated that the Community Centres would only reopen if it was safe to do so and 
in a controlled manner.  

Close of meeting 

The meeting ended at 9.02 pm

Page 8



Classification: Public
Key Decision: No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Cabinet

Date: 5 October 2020

Reporting officer: Director (Planning and Development)

Subject: Former Police Station site, Windmill Street - Possible 
Compulsory Purchase Order requirement

Purpose and summary of report: 
To seek Members' commitment in principle for pursuing the Compulsory Purchase of land 
required to bring forward the redevelopment of the former Police Station site, as shown at 
Appendix 2

Recommendations:
Members are requested to authorise the Chief Executive, in consultation with the Leader of 
the Executive and other officers as appropriate, to progress the making of a Compulsory 
Purchase Order for the land as outlined red on the plan attached at Appendix 2 in the event 
that the new owner of the site does not progress development of the site within a reasonable 
period of time.

1. Introduction

1.1 The redevelopment of the site of the former Gravesend Police Station has been 
awaited for some years, with no sign of progress occurring.  This is of concern to 
the Council.

1.2 Since being sold by Kent Police it has been sold a number of times, planning 
permissions granted and s.106 Agreements completed, a resolution to grant 
planning permission made for an extant application but the s.106 Agreement not 
completed, and abortive work undertaken by this council in seeking to support 
potential purchasers to bring forward a viable scheme for delivery.  However, for 
many years now we have seen this highly visible, key site deteriorate into an 
eyesore that remains, and is likely to remain all the while the vendor maintains 
what is considered by us to be totally unrealistic assumptions as to the site’s 
value.

1.3 The site has recently been marketed again and, despite the Council’s view of a 
realistic land value that would enable a scheme to be brought forward, officers are 
advised that a number of offers were submitted in the region of between £2 million 
and the guide price of £2.5 million, and that an exclusivity agreement has now 
been entered into with one bidder.  Officers were advised that deadline for 
exchange is 7 October 2020, with completion occurring in early November.  
Officers have yet to be contacted by the potential purchaser to understand 

Page 9 Agenda Item 6



2

development intentions, but shall be seeking further information from the vendor, 
and will provide an update on the situation at the meeting

1.4 With the site yet again being potentially acquired at what officers consider to be a 
price which is likely to prevent a viable scheme from being delivered, it is 
considered appropriate to consider the principle of using compulsory Purchase 
Order powers under part IX of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 in the 
event that development does not proceed within a reasonable period of time.  

2. The Compulsory Purchase Process

2.1 The compulsory purchase process is made up of a number of stages. It is 
important to note that the acquiring authority, in this case the Council, does not 
have the powers to compulsorily acquire land until the appropriate Government 
Minister confirms the CPO.  However, it can acquire by agreement at any time 
and should attempt to do so before acquiring by compulsion.  In this instance, as 
stated above, those efforts to acquire by agreement are being made by the 
developer and compulsory acquisition would only be considered as a last resort.

2.2 If the acquiring authority is unable to purchase by agreement because it is unable 
to agree or it is impractical to do so, it can go down the compulsory purchase 
route. Various stages need to be completed before the powers are confirmed, the 
full process being summarised below:

Formulation  Resolution



Making the Order  Referencing – Recording Information



Notification and Publicity  Objections



Decision 
The Inquiry or Written Representations 

Procedure



Possession  Compensation

2.3 At this stage a decision is only being sought ‘in principle’, in the event that 
negotiations fail.  However, in the event that Members are interested in 
understanding the process in greater detail, a booklet entitled Compulsory 
Purchase and Compensation – Compulsory Purchase Procedure, the first in a 
series of related booklets, can be found at 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attac
hment_data/file/571449/booklet1.pdf, and it is from that booklet that the above 
information has been taken.

2.4 A plan of the land in question is shown outlined in red at Appendix 2.

Page 10

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/571449/booklet1.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/571449/booklet1.pdf


3

3. Financial considerations

3.1 The quickest and most cost effective way for the council to acquire land is to seek 
to purchase it by agreement. 

3.2 Should the council determine the need to invoke CPO proceedings, costs for a 
simple CPO (where legal support is provided externally) may be accrued as 
follows:

3.3 Based on the figures above, a useable budget of circa £25,000 would be required 
to support a single property CPO taking into account a contingency amount and 
excluding property costs.  In the event that a decision is made to proceed down 
this route, appropriate budget provision will be identified and any necessary 
further authorities sought.

3.4 These figures are intended to provide broad estimates of potential costs of any 
such action.      

4. Conclusions and Recommendations

4.1 Given the importance of bringing this land forward for redevelopment, in the event 
that it is not possible to acquire by agreement, at this stage Members are 
requested to authorise the Chief Executive, in consultation with the Leader of the 
Executive and other officers as appropriate, to progress the making of a 
Compulsory Purchase Order for the land as outlined red on the plan attached at 
Appendix 2 in the event that acquisition by agreement cannot be secured.

5. Background Papers

5.1 There are no background papers pertaining to this report

Page 11



IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1
Legal As this is an in principle decision there are no legal implications arising directly from 

it. Any future decision to compulsorily acquire the land will need to consider both 
the powers available to the Council and the detail of agreements required with the 
developer to minimise the Council’s exposure to risk.  
External legal support would be required as it isn’t something that currently can be 
undertaken in house

Finance and Value 
for Money 

There are no immediate financial implications but, should the need arise to 
commence the process of a Compulsory Purchase Order, section three of the 
report sets out the likely financial implications of this process.  There is the potential 
for costs to be recovered from the developer.

Risk Assessment There are no risks to the Council in agreeing to the principle of making an Order 
and, should it be necessary to proceed further, any risks and their mitigation will be 
clearly set out in further reports

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process. 

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data? 
No

A definition of each type of data can be found on the Information 
Commissioner’s Office website via the above links.

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice?
N/A

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk.
N/A

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.
No

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.
No

Equality Impact 
Assessment

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Corporate Plan #1 People (Quality Living) –Deliver an ambitious and diverse programme of building
#2 Place (Vibrant Economy) – Positively promote sustainable development

Climate Change There are no climate change implications associated with this decision

Crime and Disorder There are no crime and disorder implications associated with this decision

Page 12

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


5

Digital and website 
implications

There are no digital and website implications associated with this decision

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults

There are no safeguarding implications associated with this decision

Page 13



APPENDIX 2

Page 14


	Agenda
	2 To sign the minutes of the previous meeting
	6 Former Police Station Site, Windmill Street - Possible Compulsory Purchase Order Requirement

